IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EUREKA COUNTY, A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; KENNETH F. BENSON, INDIVIDUALLY; DIAMOND CATTLE COMPANY, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; AND MICHEL AND MARGARET ANN ETCHEVERRY FAMILY, LP, A NEVADA REGISTERED FOREIGN LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

No. 61324

District Cour Electronically Filed Dec 27, 2012, 09:07 a.m. CV 1108-155; CV 1108-15 Clerk of Supreme Court CV 1112-165; CV 1202-170

Appellants,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA STATE ENGINEER; THE STATE OF NEVADA DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES; AND KOBEH VALLEY RANCH, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Respondents.	

APPELLANT EUREKA COUNTY'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this case because this is an appeal from the District Court's denial of EUREKA COUNTY's Petitions for Judicial Review. NRS 533.450(9) provides that an appeal may be taken to this Court from a judgment of the District Court in the same manner as in other civil cases. See NRAP 3A(b)(1).

On June 13, 2012, the District Court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Denying Petitions for Judicial Review. Joint Appendix ("JA") Volume ("Vol.") 36 at 6823-6881. Written notice of entry of the District Court's Order was served on June 14, 2012. JA Vol. 36 at 6882-6944. EUREKA COUNTY timely filed its Notice of Appeal, pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), on July 10, 2012. JA Vol. 36 at 6945-6949.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does the STATE ENGINEER have authority to grant applications to appropriate 11,300 acre feet annually ("afa") of water under NRS 533.370(2)¹ when the proposed use or change conflicts with existing rights on the reliance of a future, undefined monitoring, management and mitigation plan?
- B. Does Nevada water law and the prior appropriation doctrine preclude the STATE ENGINEER from granting groundwater permits to applicants later in time when the junior appropriations would impact prior surface water rights?
- C. Did the STATE ENGINEER apply the correct standard when he granted KVR's Applications and concluded an interbasin transfer of 11,300 afa of water from Kobeh Valley to Diamond Valley was environmentally sound pursuant to NRS 533.370(3)(c)?

¹ NRS 533.370 was amended by Assembly Bill 115 during the 2011 Nevada Legislative Session. <u>See</u> 2011 Nev. Stats. Ch 166 at 758. The amendments renumbered the provisions of NRS 533.370. All citations to NRS 533.370 in this appellate brief use the amended numbering of NRS 533.370 as codified in 2011.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Seventh Judicial District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Denying Petitions for Judicial Review entered on June 13, 2012 by the Honorable Dan L. Papez, District Judge.

The District Court erroneously concluded that Nevada water law allows the NEVADA STATE ENGINEER (hereinafter "STATE ENGINEER") to grant applications to appropriate or change 11,300 afa of water even if the proposed use or change conflicts with existing water rights, so long as the impacts to existing water rights can be mitigated.

Further, the District Court confused surface water and groundwater rights when it wrongly concluded that NRS 534.110(4) and (5) allow an appropriation of groundwater that will cause a "reasonable lowering" of the static surface water level as long as the prior appropriators can be satisfied under express conditions.

Finally, the District Court erroneously determined that the STATE ENGINEER applied the correct standard when he granted KVR's Applications and concluded that an interbasin transfer of 11,300 afa of water from Kobeh Valley to

Diamond Valley was environmentally sound in contravention of NRS 533.370(3)(c).

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Applications and Proposed Use.

Between May 2005 and June 2010, KOBEH VALLEY RANCH, LLC (hereinafter "KVR" or the "Applicant") filed Applications with the STATE ENGINEER to appropriate new water or to change the point of diversion, place of use and/or manner of use of existing water rights (collectively hereinafter "Applications") for a mining project known as the Mount Hope Mine Project located in Eureka County, Nevada.² JA Vol. 7 at 1175-1199; JA Vol. 13 at 2111-2326; JA Vol. 14 at 2327-2460; JA Vol. 26 at 4985-4988, 4994.

The Applications sought a total combined duty of 11,300 afa of groundwater for mining and milling purposes associated with the proposed mine. JA Vol. 7 at 1175-1199; JA Vol. 13 at 2111-2326; JA Vol. 14 at 2327-2460; JA Vol. 26 at 4994. The mine life is expected to be 44 years and the 11,300 afa of groundwater to be pumped is a consumptive use, meaning that it will be fully

² Some of the Applications were originally filed by a different entity. JA Vol. 13 at 2111-2149. The Applications not originally filed by KVR were later assigned or transferred to KVR. JA Vol. 26 at 4985-4986.

consumed in the mining process. JA Vol. 2 at 281-282, 312, 320; JA Vol. 7 at 1175-1199; JA Vol. 13 at 2111-2326; JA Vol. 14 at 2327-2460. This is not a dewatering project for mining in that less than ten percent of the requested water will be needed to dewater the pit. JA Vol. 26 at 3596. All water sought under the Applications, including the water pumped from and around the pit to dewater the pit, is essentially used to create slurry necessary for the movement of material and the molybdenum recovery process, ultimately resulting in the conveyance of material through and eventually away from the mine process facilities in the form of tailing slurry to a tailing storage facility in Kobeh Valley. JA Vol. 2 at 282. While some of the water in the tailing slurry is anticipated to be recoverable and recycled back to the ore process circuit, the full fresh water need of 11,300 afa from the well field and pit dewatering applied for under the Applications is fully consumed in the mining process (e.g., evaporates) or is entrained forever in the tailings and can never be used again. Id. No water extracted for the mining project will be returned to the aquifer (e.g., injected or infiltrated) for later beneficial use as is often the case with pit dewatering for gold mining. JA Vol. 2 at 282, 311-312, 320.

The water to be appropriated is located in two different hydrographic basins, the Kobeh Valley Hydrographic Basin ("Kobeh Valley") and the Diamond

Valley Hydrographic Basin ("Diamond Valley"). JA Vol. 7 at 1175-1199; JA Vol. 13 at 2111-2326; JA Vol. 14 at 2327-2460. The quantity of water requested to be pumped from Kobeh Valley, being 11,300 afa, has never been pumped from that basin, and Diamond Valley is severely over appropriated. JA Vol. 8 at 1384-1385, 1449.

The groundwater for the Mount Hope Mine Project will come primarily from a well field located within Kobeh Valley. JA Vol. 26 at 5008. The well field will consist of 10 production wells and 2 construction wells, concentrated in a limited geographic area in Kobeh Valley. JA Vol. 8 at 1363, 1371; JA Vol. 10 at 1698-1699; JA Vol. 11 at 1881; JA Vol. 23 at 4408. KVR's proposed wells are in fairly close proximity to existing springs, stockwatering wells and at least one domestic well in Kobeh Valley. JA Vol. 7 at 1242-1243; 1248-1252; JA Vol. 9 at 1552a-1552d.

The place of use for the water was identified by KVR as an approximately 90,000 acre area, which sits astride the boundaries of Kobeh Valley, Diamond Valley and Pine Valley Hydrographic Basins. JA Vol. 7 at 1175-1199; JA Vol. 13 at 2111-2326; JA Vol. 14 at 2327-2460. Most of the groundwater to be appropriated will be diverted in Kobeh Valley and put to beneficial use in

Diamond Valley, constituting an interbasin transfer of water. JA Vol. 26 at 5008-5009.

The Applications were protested by various individuals and entities including EUREKA COUNTY. JA Vol. 7 at 1155-1174; JA Vol. 22 at 4240-4248; JA Vol. 25 at 4819-4860; JA Vol. 26 at 4988-4994. The STATE ENGINEER held administrative hearings on the Applications in December 2010 and in May 2011.³ JA Vol. 7 at 1110-1118; JA Vol. 26 at 4995.

/////

/////

/////

At the hearing before the STATE ENGINEER in December 2010, one of the Protestants filed a motion to adopt the previous record from the October 2008 hearing. JA Vol. 7 at 1151-1154. The motion was unopposed and the STATE ENGINEER adopted the Exhibits and Transcript from the previous hearing. JA Vol. 7 at 1146-1147; JA Vol. 26 at 4995.

In compliance with NRAP 30(b), only excerpts of the Transcript from the October 2008 hearing are included in the Joint Appendix because the excerpts are

The Applications were previously before the STATE ENGINEER in an administrative hearing held October 13-17, 2008. JA Vol. 26 at 4995. In Ruling 5966 issued on March 26, 2009, the STATE ENGINEER approved some of the Applications and others were denied. See ROA Vol. 26 at 4995; ROA Vol. 36 at 6827-6828. Ruling 5966 was appealed to the District Court, and the District Court vacated Ruling 5966 in its Order entered on April 21, 2010. Id. Thereafter, KVR filed Change Applications 79911 through 79942 on June 15, 2010. JA Vol. 26 at 4995.

B. Existing Vested, Permitted and Certificated Water Rights and Domestic Wells.

Numerous witnesses using and holding a variety of water rights in the Kobeh Valley Basin and Roberts Mountain area testified before the STATE ENGINEER, describing the history of their ranches, their vested, permitted, certificated and domestic water rights and the customary use of their water. JA Vol. 4 at 615-629, 637-644, 649-658, 660-666, 670-681; JA Vol. 10 at 1711; JA Vol. 25 at 4933; JA Vol. 26 at 4934-4938.

Mr. Martin Etcheverry, whose family owns the Roberts Creek Ranch, testified he uses all the water that is on his Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") allotment, known as the Roberts Creek allotment, comprised of approximately 156,000 acres. JA Vol. 4 at 615-617, 619-620, 626. Mr. Etcheverry testified: "It's been documented that there are over a hundred springs on the allotment." JA Vol. 4 at 621. It is a unique allotment with water all throughout the allotment. JA Vol. 4 at 621. The cows use the entire area, including the springs and the creeks in the lower part of the ranch up to the top of the mountain, for grazing. JA Vol. 4 at 621. The surface water is also used to irrigate all of the meadows on the private ground at Roberts Creek. JA Vol. 4 at 622. The private ground at Roberts Creek is approximately 320 acres and the private ground using Vinini Creek is 240 acres.

essential to the decision of issues presented in this appeal.

JA Vol. 4 at 620, 622. Mr. Etcheverry has 7 underground wells on his BLM allotment and private ground. JA Vol. 4 at 623. Roberts Creek, springs above the ranch area and certain wells are also used for domestic purposes. JA Vol. 4 at 622-623. A portion of his BLM allotment is in a wilderness study area. JA Vol. 4 at 632.

These springs and creeks make Mr. Etcheverry's ranch and BLM allotment unique because they provide so much water and forage for his cattle. JA Vol. 4 at 621, 626-627. Mr. Etcheverry testified "...with all the springs and creeks, the cattle are distributed good throughout the pasture and they are utilizing the whole pasture." JA Vol. 4 at 626. "That's what makes it unique, just the water on the ranch, there's so many springs and creeks, plenty of water and the cattle do well there." JA Vol. 4 at 626. Mr. Etcheverry explained why the cattle do well and why it is important that cattle are disbursed throughout the pastures. JA Vol. 4 at 626-627. If too many cattle graze in one concentrated area, BLM rules and regulations are violated. JA Vol. 4 at 627.

The testimony of other witnesses with existing water rights in Kobeh Valley and the Roberts Mountain area was similar. See, Testimony of John Colby, JA Vol. 4 at 637-644, JA Vol. 26 at 4935, 4938; Testimony of Kenneth Buckingham, JA Vol. 4 at 649-658; JA Vol. 25 at 4933; Testimony of Jim

Etcheverry, JA Vol. 4 at 660-666, JA Vol. 26 at 4937-4938; Testimony of Gary Garaventa, JA Vol. 4 at 670-681; JA Vol. 26 at 4936. These water rights holders use the water on their private ground or BLM allotments for stockwater and to irrigate the meadows for pasture for their cattle and/or sheep. JA Vol. 4 at 637-639, 651-655, 662-664, 671-672. The numerous springs and creeks keep their cattle disbursed, the cattle do not have to walk very far for water, and the abundant springs and creeks provide forage for their stock. JA Vol. 4 at 639-640, 665-666. Most of the water right holders also have groundwater wells on their BLM allotment and private property for domestic and stockwatering purposes. JA Vol. 4 at 638, 657-658, 662, 665, 667-671; JA Vol. 25 at 4933; JA Vol. 26 at 4935-4938. A portion of Mr. Colby's BLM allotment is also part of a wilderness study area. JA Vol. 4 at 639-640. Wells cannot be drilled in the wilderness study area. JA Vol. 4 at 639-640, 643.

Mr. Jim Etcheverry testified he rotates his livestock around to different fields and if they are in a specific field at a specific time they need to use the water in that field. JA Vol. 4 at 665-666. Springs producing 2 to 3 gallons per minute of water are very valuable for the cows and sheep to water when they are in a specific field and need to use that water. JA Vol. 4 at 665. "So, if they [the

springs] were compromised, you know, it would really hurt right then." JA Vol. 4 at 665.

Finally, several witnesses described the shallow water table in the Kobeh Valley Basin. JA Vol. 4 at 640-641, 676-677; JA Vol. 25 at 4751. Lowering the water table would impact their surface and groundwater rights and wildlife in the area. JA Vol. 4 at 641, 643, 673-677.

In the 2008 hearing, Thomas Buqo, an expert hydrogeologist for KVR responsible for KVR's well drilling program, confirmed Mr. Martin Etcheverry's statement regarding the number of springs in the area. JA Vol. 36 at 6956-6958, 6960-6961. Mr. Buqo testified:

Mr. Etcheverry I think said there's 100 springs in the Roberts Mountains and I think he's absolutely correct.

I know there's a lot of small springs and seeps. What we noticed is there are numerous springs in the Roberts Mountains area, lots and lots of them.

There's also springs over on the valley floor.

JA Vol. 36 at 6961.

Martin Etcheverry, Jim Etcheverry and John Colby further testified regarding vested surface water rights they, or their predecessors, used prior to 1905

for stockwatering and cattle grazing purposes.⁴ These witnesses testified there are hundreds of springs and creeks on both their private land and BLM allotments in Kobeh Valley and the Roberts Mountain area, with uses that pre-date 1905.⁵ JA Vol. 4 at 634-636, 638-640, 664, 666, 668-669, 678-679; JA Vol. 26 at 4934, 4935, 4937, 4938.

Ron Damele testified that in 1878 his family came from Italy to Alpha, Nevada, which is located 36 miles north of the town of Eureka. JA Vol. 4 at 685-686. From the late 1800's, Mr. Damele's family owned the Three Bar, JD, Tonkin, Willow Creek and Indian Ranches. JA Vol. 4 at 699. His family ran cattle and sheep and irrigated the meadows on those properties and there was no doubt the water was used based on the information his family has handed down, the works he saw there and "because there's good creeks." JA Vol. 4 at 699.

/////

⁴ At the 2008 hearing, the STATE ENGINEER's Office asked and Martin Etcheverry confirmed during public comment the rights he had on the springs in the Roberts Creek area were claims of vested rights. JA Vol. 36 at 6954. The STATE ENGINEER was put on notice in 2008, even if public comment is not evidence pursuant to NAC 533.060 and NAC 533.110, that there was a water user contending he had claims of vested rights in the Roberts Creek area.

⁵ These vested rights were not listed in KVR's exhibits showing water rights KVR identified from records of the STATE ENGINEER's Office. JA Vol. 3 at 536-537, 541-542. All water rights owned by Kobeh Valley and Roberts Mountain area water users may not have been depicted on EUREKA COUNTY's exhibits.

C. The Conflicts.

At the hearings before the STATE ENGINEER, KVR's experts testified the Applications would conflict with existing rights. Terry Katzer, KVR's expert in hydrogeology, testified in response to questioning from KVR's attorney:

- Q. Okay. Will the pumping over time cause impacts to springs in direct stock watering wells in the floor of Kobeh Valley?
- A. I believe it will. And I can't name the springs because I'm not that familiar with them. Mud Springs, for instance, I know where that is. I've been there. It will probably dry that up with time. And other springs that are in close proximity to the well field.
- Q. Stock watering wells?
- A. Stock watering wells, yes, probably.

JA Vol. 2 at 338-339, 363. On cross examination, Mr. Katzer confirmed his earlier opinion that KVR's proposed groundwater pumping would impact existing surface and groundwater rights holders in the alluvial system:

- Q. But in this case you've already testified that there's going to be impacts to existing rights from this pumping; is that correct?
- A. That's in the alluvial system. That's a given.

JA Vol. 2 at 373-374 (emphasis added).

Dwight Smith, KVR's hydrogeology and groundwater modeling expert, and the individual responsible for the preparation of the numerical groundwater flow model presented by KVR, reading from the model report, testified that "[h]owever, the model offers the best available tool from any predictions and it suggests a potential to impact spring flows in Roberts Creek and Henderson Creek water sheds." JA Vol. 3 at 436-438, 525. Mr. Smith described the impacts to a specific existing permit, the Mud Spring permit, as follows:

- Q. And then going down to spring 721 [Mud Spring permit]?
- A. Yes.
- Q. That's in green?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Which indicates it's a spring in the valley?
- A. Yes, that's correct.
- Q. And that's the Etcheverry Mud Spring permit that's referenced on page 189 of your text?
- A. That's correct.

. . . .

Q. And in the text that also indicates that that spring would have a permanent impact?

A. Well, not permanent because it does recover over time. Well, it recovers to within one foot of prepumping water levels. But that spring might be helpful to refer to Figure 4.4-20. I know we don't have the well field superimposed on this figure. But that spring is in very close proximity to a proposed production well site. I visited that spring and I actually recall finding a metal casing in the middle of that. I don't know if that's a spring that's just been augmented by drilling a well in the middle of it. I'm not quite sure the conspiracies [sic]. But very low flow supports a small pooled area of water that I've seen wild horses and occasionally cattle using as a source of stock water.

But I do, I think there's a high probability that that spring [Mud Spring] will cease the flow of it is -- see the flow as a direct result of pump-out from the well.

- Q. It will cease the flow as a result of direct pumping from the well field?
- A. I believe it would.

JA Vol. 3 at 544-545 (discussing Table 4.4.10 of the KVR model report found at JA Vol. 9 at 1687d and Figure 4.4-20 found at JA Vol. 11 at 1854a).

Mr. Smith reiterated in his testimony that Mud Spring "would potentially cease to flow" because of its close proximity to the KVR well field. JA Vol. 3 at 531. Mr. Smith agreed with Mr. Katzer's opinions regarding impacts and testified:

- A. ... [N]othing is definitive, but at the same time I think it's pretty likely that those stock water resources will require mitigation. I think those stock water sources would potentially cease to flow. I think we'll see that effect fairly clearly and fairly soon in the pumping. I don't want to suggest that those impacts can't be fully mitigated.
- Q. So you agree with the opinion from Mr. Katzer yesterday regarding impacts from the mine's proposed pumping to certain existing rights?
- A. He was I think referencing these same references in his testimony.
- Q. And you agree with that?
- A. Yes, I concur with Terry's testimony.

JA Vol. 3 at 531.

Although Mr. Smith testified impacts to existing water rights could be "fully mitigated," no evidence was presented by KVR at the hearings before the STATE ENGINEER that KVR had proposed or had any type of management or mitigation plan in place. JA Vol. 2 at 305-306, 315; JA Vol. 5 at 902; JA Vol. 7. at 1240. There is no evidence of a mitigation plan proposed by KVR that is part of the record before the STATE ENGINEER. ⁶ JA Vol. 2 at 305-306, 315; JA Vol. 5

⁶ EUREKA COUNTY submitted a proposed plan to the STATE ENGINEER which was designed to address the potential *unknown* impacts to senior water rights holders as a result of the mining operations. JA Vol. 14 at 2478-2492; JA Vol. 24 at 4681. EUREKA COUNTY's proposed plan was not

at 902; JA Vol. 7 at 1240. One of KVR's witnesses, the director of environmental permitting for the mine project, described such a plan as undeveloped and speculative:

A. I don't know what we would propose in a mitigation plan. A mitigation plan hasn't been developed yet. It would be speculative to say what we would or would not propose.

JA Vol. 2 at 267-268, 315.

In addition to the expert testimony by Mr. Smith, KVR's model report states:

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