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

There being no evidence in support of the interbasin transfer being environmentally sound, the STATE ENGINEER could not have relied upon substantial evidence in making such a finding and granting the Applications.

27 /////

28 /////

d. Like The STATE ENGINEER, KVR Also Ignores The Issue Of Future Growth And Further Establishes That KVR Failed To Provide Evidence Regarding Future Growth In Kobeh Valley.

The STATE ENGINEER misapplied the requirement of NRS 533.370(3) that he consider "whether the proposed action is an appropriate long-term use which will not unduly limit the future growth and development in the basin from which the water is exported." Specifically, EUREKA COUNTY asserted that the STATE ENGINEER focused entirely on whether the proposed use was an appropriate long term use for the basin and then, utilizing his finding on that element, circuitously determined that the satisfaction of that element satisfied the element of future growth. See, Opening Brief, p. 36, ll. 15-28 and p. 37, ll. 1-3. Neither the STATE ENGINEER nor KVR dispute that this erroneous analysis occurred nor do they allege that such analysis is appropriate. The lack of dispute regarding this argument should be treated as a concession that such argument is valid and grounds to grant EUREKA COUNTY relief.

Despite having ignored a portion of EUREKA COUNTY's argument, KVR does allege there was evidence submitted that the interbasin transfer would not inhibit future growth in Kobeh Valley. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 39, Il. 12-23. KVR does not cite to any evidence submitted by itself, the applicant, in support of such proposition but instead attempts a creative analysis to minimize the evidence submitted by EUREKA COUNTY. Id. For example, KVR says that Mr. Ronald Damele, the Eureka County Public Works Director, testified that there are sufficient water rights to meet anticipated growth. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 39, Il. 18-20. Mr. Damele actually testified that in order for anyone to develop property in Eureka County there was a county water ordinance which required dedication of two acre-feet of water for each new parcel. See, ROA Vol. III, p. 000521. KVR's reference to Mr. Damele's testimony is actually a reference to testimony regarding the water available in the town water system which is located in Diamond Valley, not Kobeh Valley, and is unrelated to an analysis of the impacts upon future growth in Kobeh Valley. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 39, Il. 18-20 and ROA Vol. III, p. 000526. With the appropriation by KVR, it will be challenging for anyone to subdivide land in Kobeh Valley since they may be unable to obtain the necessary two acre-foot dedication. Additionally, KVR concedes that evidence

³⁹ As stated above, KVR is not the STATE ENGINEER and as such its analysis regarding an issue cannot be considered an adequate replacement for the analysis required by the STATE ENGINEER before he issues a Ruling.

Not only is it conceded that the STATE ENGINEER did not appropriately apply the provisions of NRS 533.370(3) regarding future growth in Kobeh Valley, but it is further evident that KVR provided the STATE ENGINEER nothing upon which to rely in considering such requirements. Accordingly, the only evidence available regarding future growth being that the interbasin transfer would unduly limit future growth in Kobeh Valley, the STATE ENGINEER acted arbitrarily and capriciously in determining that there would be no impacts.

10. <u>It Was Clearly Established That A Forfeiture Had Occurred For The Bartine Rights.</u>

In order to avoid a forfeiture, a water right must be put to the beneficial use for which the water right was permitted as required by NRS 534.090(1). In this instance, the issue is whether the simple allowance of natural artesian flow, without any evidence of actual irrigation, is sufficient to avoid a forfeiture of water rights issued for the beneficial use of irrigation.

As Nevada has not yet addressed the issue, EUREKA COUNTY cited several cases from other jurisdictions that addressed the issue and held that naturally occurring seepage without actual irrigation was not sufficient to avoid a forfeiture. State ex. rel. Martinez v. McDermott, 901 P.2d 745, 749 (N.M. App. 1995) and Staats v. Newman, 988 P.2d 439, 440 (Or. App. 1999). KVR initially states that this Court should simply defer to the STATE ENGINEER's decision and then refers to the cases cited by EUREKA COUNTY with apparent approval. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 41, ll. 1-28 and p. 42, ll. 1-17. KVR's argument appears to be that there was substantial evidence of irrigation and as such, these cases support the STATE ENGINEER's Ruling. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 42, l. 4. Nonetheless, KVR does not point to any evidence of irrigation

⁴⁰ As discussed above in detail, this Court is not required to simply defer to the STATE ENGINEER's interpretation of a statute, particularly when the plain language of the statute, reason and public policy oppose the interpretation suggested by the STATE ENGINEER. <u>UMC Physicians' Bargaining Unit of Nevada Serv. Employees Union</u>, 124 Nev. at 89, 178 P.3d at 712 (2008).

pursuant to the Bartine Rights.⁴¹ Instead, KVR refers this Court to several dictionary definitions to assert that simple artesian flow should be considered irrigation. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 41, ll. 25-28 and p. 42, ll. 1-2. KVR provides no evidence or case law to support its argument. EUREKA COUNTY urges the Court to consider the relevant case law from other jurisdictions on this issue cited by EUREKA COUNTY.

Further establishing the flaws in KVR's position is the actual facts presented by EUREKA COUNTY that show the lack of any beneficial use pursuant to the Bartine Rights. Specifically, numerous individuals testified that irrigation had not occurred on the property extending for at least three decades. See, CV0904 ROA Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 117, ll. 7-25, p. 118, ll. 1-7, Vol. 2, p. 401, ll. 7-18 and Vol. 3, p. 423, ll. 9-19 and p. 484, ll. 1-18. Furthermore, the STATE ENGINEER clearly conceded that there was substantial evidence that no crop had been irrigated pursuant to the Bartine Rights, because he relied entirely upon the natural artesian flow to avoid a forfeiture. See, ROA Vol. XVIII, pp. 003601-003602.

In light of the substantial uncontroverted evidence establishing a forfeiture the STATE ENGINEER's Ruling is arbitrary and capricious.

11. KVR Fails To Respond To EUREKA COUNTY's Argument That Only A Portion Of The Bartine Rights Had Any Evidence Of Use.

If the artesian flow can be considered beneficial use, there was only the natural distribution of this artesian flow upon a portion of the Bartine property, namely 65.54 acres. Despite this complete lack of evidence of use for all the Bartine Rights, the STATE ENGINEER did not forfeit even a portion of the Bartine Rights. See, EC ROA 075-078, 0111-0112 and 0135-0136.

KVR's argument is wholly nonresponsive to EUREKA COUNTY's assertions. KVR's argument goes to the consumptive use, and not to the issue of forfeiture. See, KVR's

⁴¹ KVR does respond to EUREKA COUNTY's assertion that the 2008-2010 crop inventories cannot cure the forfeiture acknowledging the status of the law as cited by EUREKA COUNTY but asserting that the claim of forfeiture was not made until the October 2008 hearing, after any alleged crops would have been grown in 2008. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 42, ll. 18-24 and p. 43, ll. 1-2. This argument misconstrues the timing of EUREKA COUNTY's claim of forfeiture. EUREKA COUNTY initially raised a claim of forfeiture with regard to KVR's Applications in September, 2007. See, CV0904 ROA 4046-4048. EUREKA COUNTY in its Protest filed on June 27, 2008, specific to the Bartine Rights, stated that the issue of forfeiture had been raised at the March 17, 2008 prehearing conference and that such issue was included in that Protest. See, CV0904 ROA 4028-4031. Even pursuant to KVR's argument, the claim of forfeiture having been raised in March of 2008, with regard to the Bartine Rights, would predate any use that occurred during the 2008 growing season. Accordingly, the crop inventories from 2008-2010 cannot be utilized to cure the forfeiture.

3

4

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Answering Brief, p. 43, 1l. 5-24. While the consumptive use analysis is associated with approving any change application, it is by no means evidence of use to avoid a forfeiture, and as such, KVR's argument is irrelevant and nonresponsive to EUREKA COUNTY's point. In fact, EUREKA COUNTY already accounted for the consumptive use in addressing this issue. See, Opening Brief, p. 42, 11. 9-18.

There being no evidence that all the Bartine Rights were put to beneficial use, even accepting the natural artesian flow as beneficial use, the STATE ENGINEER's determination not to forfeit a portion of the Bartine Rights was arbitrary and capricious.

COUNTY Can Raise A Purely Legal Issue Such As The

KVR asks this Court to disregard the STATE ENGINEER's violation of NRS 533.324 and NRS 533.325 because the violation was not raised before the STATE ENGINEER, though such violation did not even occur until the Ruling was issued. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 8, 11. 13-26, p. 9, 11. 1-28, p. 10, 11. 1-8 and p. 45, 11. 12-28. The basis for KVR's allegations is that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a proceeding before the district court. Id.

KVR cites to the Nevada Supreme Court case of State ex rel. State Bd. of Equalization v. Barta, 124 Nev. 612, 621, 188 P.3d 1092, 1098 (2008) in support of its proposition. Barta recognizes the existence of exceptions to the rule, specifically an exception for purely legal issues. Id. at fn. 24. Barta further cited Nevada Power Co. v. Haggerty, 115 Nev. 353, 365, fn. 9, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999) in which the Nevada Supreme Court explicitly recognized that the interpretation of a statute was a purely legal issue that was exempt from the rule that an issue could not be raised for the first time on appeal. "The principle behind this exception to the waiver rule is that the reviewing tribunal decides a legal issue on undisputed facts de novo, and therefore it is not essential to the court's review that the agency had an opportunity to address the issue." Bunker v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n, 650 N.W. 2d 864, 869 (Wis. App. 2002). Thus, while Nevada does not generally allow an issue to be raised for the first time on appeal, a purely legal issue, such as the interpretation of a statute, can be raised for the first time on appeal.

4

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Moreover, in applying the rule regarding an issue raised for the first time on appeal to the judicial review of administrative agencies, certain policy considerations are important and should be recognized. Richardson v. Tennessee Bd. of Dentistry, 913 S.W. 2d 446, 457, (Tenn. 1995). One such policy is, "the fact that an agency has exceeded its authority may not be apparent until the agency has issued its final orders." Id. That is exactly the situation here. The violation of NRS 533.324 and NRS 533.325 did not occur until the STATE ENGINEER issued his Ruling. Prior to the issuance of the Ruling, it would have been impossible for EUREKA COUNTY, or any Protestant, to predict that the STATE ENGINEER intended to disregard the limitations upon his statutory authority in the Ruling. Utilizing KVR's argument, the Protestants at every hearing before the STATE ENGINEER would be required to assume the STATE ENGINEER would violate the law and raise and address every statutory obligation or prohibition so as to reserve their right to challenge in Court any statutory violation by the STATE ENGINEER.

In addition, the cases cited by KVR are easily distinguishable from this case. For example, in Red River Broadcasting Co. v. FCC, 98 F.2d 282, 286 (D.C. Cir. 1938), the court focused on the fact that the plaintiff failed to appear at the administrative proceedings and therefore waived its right to object to anything that occurred at the administrative proceeding. In this case, EUREKA COUNTY was a party to the proceedings before the STATE ENGINEER and appeared therein. Moreover, in some of the cases cited by KVR, the new issue being raised on appeal involved facts or evidence in dispute, not purely legal issues as in this case. See, Suprenant v. Bd. for Contractors, 516 S.E.2d 220, 225 (Va. 1999), Bergen Pines Cnty. Hosp. v. N.J. Dep't of Human Serv., 476 A.2d 784, 793 (N.J. 1984) and T.C. v. Review Bd. of Ind. Dep't of Workforce Dev., 930 N.E.2d 29, 31 (Ind. Ct. App. 2010). As an additional example, in King County v. Wash. State Boundary Review Bd. for King County, 860 P.2d 1024, 1035 (Wash.1993)(en banc) cited by KVR, the court relied on a Washington statute to find a waiver of the issue raised by the Plaintiff on appeal. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 9, 11. 26-28 and p. 10, 11. 1-4. Such a statute does not exist in Nevada.

Whether the STATE ENGINEER can grant change applications for water appropriations that have not yet been permitted requires an interpretation of NRS 533.324 and NRS

3

5

6

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

533.325. There are no facts in dispute with regard to this issue as everyone agrees upon the timing of the filing and granting of the Applications. Accordingly, this is a purely legal issue which the Nevada Supreme Court has held can be addressed by this Court for the first time on judicial review. Haggarty, 115 Nev. at 365, fn. 9, 989 P.2d at 877 (1999).

An Individual May Not Apply To The STATE ENGINEER For A Change 13. Application Unless The Water Rights To Be Changed Have Been Appropriated.

KVR uses the same argument as the STATE ENGINEER on this issue. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 46, ll. 1-28, p. 47, ll. 1-28 and p. 48, ll. 1-15. Specifically, KVR says that NRS 533.324 and NRS 533.325 do not address the time and process for filing change applications. Id. As discussed in detail above, this argument fails based upon the explicit language of the statute.

NRS 533.324 provides that a change application is not appropriately applied for unless the water rights to be changed have been permitted. Thus, NRS 533.324 explicitly addresses the timeline and process for filing change applications by indicating it is inappropriate to even apply to the STATE ENGINEER for a change unless the water to be changed has already been permitted. Furthermore, as discussed above, the simple fact that the STATE ENGINEER has historically violated NRS 533.324 and NRS 533.325, or that properly applying these statutes will be inconvenient for the STATE ENGINEER, is not grounds to disregard the unambiguous plain language of the statutes.

It is undisputed that the STATE ENGINEER granted change applications that were applied for prior to the underlying water having been permitted. Thus, the STATE ENGINEER violated the plain provisions of NRS 533.324 and NRS 533.325. The STATE ENGINEER's actions are in violation of law and must be vacated by the Court.

The STATE ENGINEER Abused His Discretion By Accepting KVR's Inventory In Satisfaction Of His Obligation Pursuant To NRS 533.364. 14.

COUNTY Did Not Fail To Appeal Within The Statutory Time a.

KVR says that regardless of how the STATE ENGINEER addresses the statutory requirements of NRS 533.364, requiring an inventory in certain interbasin transfers before approving the application for the interbasin transfer, there is no way a party could appeal. See, KVR's

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Answering Brief, p. 51, ll. 1-20. The basis of KVR's argument is that the inventory is a ministerial task that does not require "a separate 'order or decision' of the State Engineer that can be independently challenged." ⁴² See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 51, ll. 10-14. KVR thereafter alleges that, if an appeal is possible, the STATE ENGINEER issued the order or decision from which EUREKA COUNTY was required to appeal on June 22, 2011, and thus EUREKA COUNTY's appeal is untimely and must be disregarded. See, KVR's Answering Brief, p. 51, Il. 21-28 and p. 52, 11. 1-5.

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